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The Boston Marathon bombing incident produced an exceedingly bloody, gore-�lled scene. We know

that because virtually all avenues of the mainstream media, as was obvious from the very �rst reports,

wanted us to know that. Never before can I recall seeing so many blood-soaked images being so

prominently displayed. Newspapers and network and cable news broadcasts seemed to be on a mission to

bring you the bloodiest, most graphic images they could come up with. The most disturbing of those

images, by far, all involved a guy who had reportedly just had both of his legs blown o�. The most heavily

circulated and iconic of those images are of the legless guy being rolled away from the scene in a

wheelchair, his unbelievably graphic wounds uncovered and on full display for the waiting cameras.

How crazy would it sound to suggest that that did not happen by accident — to suggest that not only were

his injuries staged, but that they were speci�cally designed for that high-pro�le wheelchair ride? Pretty

crazy … right? After all, I have in the past been rather critical of other researchers who have alleged that the

victims of high-pro�le mass murders are actually actors. Nothing, it seems to me, could possibly serve to

better alienate and o�end the general public than attacking the victims as being part of the conspiracy. But

what if the evidence is so overwhelming that it simply cannot be ignored?

I need to be very clear here in stating that I am not arguing that no one was injured in the attack and that

there was no real su�ering. That undoubtedly was not the case. But the fact remains that the most high-

pro�le of the victims, who also happened to be by far the most gruesomely injured of the victims, and the

guy who purportedly provided the tip that allowed authorities to identify the alleged perpetrators, appears

to have been a fake. And though we were told that there were numerous people who lost limbs that day, he

is the only one the media chose to put in the spotlight that day.
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Given his central role in the a�air then, we should probably take a much closer look at the wheelchair guy.

That means, of course, that this post will necessarily be �lled with very graphic images. But there’s no need

to worry – you’ve seen plenty of this stu� before on your television and on theater screens. And it doesn’t

appear to be any more real here than it is in a George Romero movie or an episode of The Walking Dead.

Before getting to the images though, a brief review of the o�cial story is in order here so that we can

gauge how closely the photographic evidence conforms to the story that we have been asked to believe. To

begin with, the guy’s name is supposedly Je� Bauman. The posted photos of Bauman, however, do not

really resemble the wheelchair guy. In addition, the initial identi�cation of Bauman came via an

unveri�able Facebook post. In fact, virtually everything that has been reported about Bauman to this day

seems to have come from unveri�ed Facebook posts, though the info has been reported as fact. Those posts

have largely been credited to Je� Bauman, Sr., though no reporters, as best I can determine, have actually

located and spoken to the senior Bauman. Reports claim that Je�, Jr. was supposedly waiting at the �nish

line for his girlfriend to cross, but that girlfriend has never been identi�ed and has not come forward to

speak to the press. And Bauman himself, though healthy enough after just 19 days to attend a Boston

Bruins hockey match, has not been sought out by or interviewed by anyone in the media.



Some on the Internet have claimed that the guy who allegedly lost his legs was actually Nick Vogt, a

former serviceman who had previously lost his legs overseas. But numerous photos of Vogt can be found

posted online and none of them really seem to resemble the wheelchair guy all that closely. I don’t pretend

to know who the no-legs guy actually is, but I do know that the evidence overwhelmingly suggests that he

did not lose his legs at the Boston Marathon. For the purposes of this post, we will refer to him as Je�

Bauman, though I am not at all convinced that that is his real name.

According to the o�cial narrative, Bauman was all but straddling backpack bomb #1 when it went o�. As

reported by Bloomberg News, “Bauman was waiting among the crowd for his girlfriend to cross the �nish

line at the Boston Marathon. A man wearing a cap, sunglasses and a black jacket over a hooded sweatshirt

looked at Je�, 27, and dropped a bag at his feet, his brother, Chris Bauman, said in an interview. Two and a

half minutes later, the bag exploded, tearing Je�’s legs apart.” Curiously, that alleged brother has not been

seen, photographed or spoken to by any other media outlet.

What we will be viewing here then in the accompanying images is ‘ground zero’ of the Boston bombing –

the very area that the so-called Cowboy Hero, Carlos Arredondo, described as follows: “[there was] blood,

blood everywhere, on the �oor … and then all you see was people without limbs. I mean, ripped o� limbs

everywhere, everywhere …”

Arredondo has claimed in interviews that he was seated in the bleachers across the street when the �rst

bomb went o�, but that he immediately swung into action. The Daily Mail reported that, “as most people

ran for their lives when the explosions went o� in Boston, [Arredondo] vaulted a fence to get to spectators,

many of whom had lost limbs, and used his clothes and towels to stanch victims’ bleeding.” Naturally

enough, Arredondo immediately recognized that Bauman was the victim most in need of assistance and he

acted accordingly, reaching his side within “moments”: “The �rst time Je� Bauman Jr. met Carlos

Arredondo it was moments after one of the blasts at the Boston Marathon blew him to the ground taking

both his legs.”

The Daily Beast provided one of the most detailed accounts of Arredondo’s heroics: “Carlos Arredondo was

in the bleachers by the �nish line of the Boston Marathon when the �rst bomb went o� directly across the

street … In the next moment, the 53-year old was vaulting a barricade and racing straight into the acrid

cloud …” He immediately located and rushed to assist Bauman. “A second bomb went o� 100 yards away.

Arredondo kept his focus on the young man …” In other words, he had worked his way down from the

bleachers, raced across the street, vaulted the barricade, located Bauman amidst the smoke and confusion,

and already begun to assist him – all within less than 15 seconds! I think we can all agree that heroes of that

magnitude aren’t born every day.

The ever-heroic Arredondo then quickly lifted Bauman into a nearby wheelchair and without hesitation

got him to a medical tent, pinching o� Je�’s exposed femoral artery along the way, thus saving the young

man’s life. From his hospital bed Bauman has reportedly con�rmed that account: “When Carlos picked me

up and threw me into the wheelchair, then I was like, maybe I am going to make it … before that, no way.

I thought I was done.”

Another guy we will be seeing a lot of in the images that follow is allegedly named Christian Williams, but

we will refer to him as “the hoody guy” or just “hoody” because I seriously doubt that that is his real name.

Hoody guy was right alongside Bauman at the time of the blast and, like Je�, he sustained very serious, life-

threatening wounds. According to a fundraising page put up by someone claiming to be a friend of hoody
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guy, he remains in the hospital and has endured numerous surgeries aimed at putting him back together.

Here are a few (very poorly written) excerpts from the page:

“[Christian] remembers quite vividly that a Boston Marathon runner who is also a surgeon, came to his

rescue. He remembers the man was able to get people to help him apply tourniquet to each of his legs, he

hollered out ‘if we can get this guy out on the next transport he has a chance, otherwise he’s going to die.’

That’s when he realized how serious his injuries were … Christian is indeed lucky that his legs will not

have to be amputated … Here’s the latest update from Christian … ‘today I met a few of my saviors …

Standing before me were the three members of the Boston EMS who were directly responsible for keeping

me alive and getting me swiftly to the hospital. Apparently, they had been speculating about my outcome

for two weeks and decided to surprise me with a visit, because I was by far the most seriously injured

patient they treated that day, and that they had not expected me to make it. They had applied not one, not

two, but three tourniquets to my left leg, yet still my blood poured down o� the stretcher and onto the

�oor. Both of my femurs were exposed and they were applying pressure to keep them in place. My right

leg was so badly wounded from top to bottom they thought for sure it was gone. My blood pressure was

nowhere to be found, and they were calling ahead and alerting the trauma team that I had turned ashen.'”

Elsewhere on the page, it says that, “Christian’s right hand was also partially ‘degloved’, meaning he has no

skin left on his last three �ngers.”

Also right alongside Bauman at the time of the blast was a young woman allegedly named Nicole Gross,

who was waiting at the �nish line with her sister. We will be seeing quite a bit of Nicole as well. Also with

her was her husband. According to an account in the Charlotte Observer, Nicole and her husband were

taken to the hospital together. While her husband sustained only minor wounds, Nicole and her sister were

far more gravely injured. Nicole’s injuries included two breaks in her left leg, a fracture in her right ankle,

torn skin, and a severed Achilles tendon. Her sister fared even worse, losing her left leg below the knee and

su�ering a compound fracture in her right leg, a broken right ankle, and broken bones in her foot. While I

seriously doubt that her name is really Nicole, I will play along and use that name for her in this post.

There is one more person we will be seeing a lot of, a black woman dressed in black pants, a white top and

a red sweater. She was also in the grouping around Bauman when the �rst blast occurred, which means that

according to the o�cial version of events she was also nearly straddling the supposedly shrapnel-laden

bomb. As best I can determine at this time, she has not been identi�ed and so will here be referred to as

“Redcoat.”

Having now met the cast of characters and having familiarized ourselves with the relevant portions of the

o�cial narrative, let’s now review the available photo and video evidence to determine if there might be a

possibility that some parts of the story might be untrue. Let’s begin with some live footage from the Boston

Globe that depicts the explosions and their immediate aftermath. As can be seen, the explosions took place

on the side of the street opposite the bleachers – the side of the street, that is, where there were far fewer

spectators gathered. The explosions also took place behind some temporary fencing/sca�olding, requiring

would-be rescuers to spend a full two-and-a-half minutes working to dismantle the fencing to get to

victims. Arredondo can be seen among the responders and volunteers working to tear down the fencing.

So already, we have a bit of a problem with the Cowboy Hero’s version of events: he clearly did not

immediately vault over the fence to get to victims and he just as clearly was not at Bauman’s side within

“moments.” Below is a photo taken from above of the �rst bombing site just seconds after detonation.

Plainly evident is that there were relatively few people at the site of the blast and, with the exception of a
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small huddled group, all of them are on their feet and quickly moving away from the area. That would tend

to indicate that they still had their legs �rmly attached.

 

The fact that there were relatively few witnesses at the blast location, coupled with the fact that would-be

rescuers were held at bay for the �rst few minutes by the temporary fencing, would have provided an ideal

window of opportunity to stage the scene, if anyone had been inclined to do so.

Below is the �rst post-blast image of Bauman, taken from a surveillance video. He can be seen to the left,

just in front of Redcoat. Just behind her is the hoody guy. Barely visible to the far left is Nicole Gross.

Hoody, Nicole and Redcoat are all three huddled closely around Je�’s freshly mangled legs. The smoke is

still pretty thick in this image so we can’t discern much, but we can see that from the earliest moments after

the explosion, both of Bauman’s stumps are at right angles to his body. And the lower leg on the longer

stump, though it can’t be seen from this angle, is at a near perfect right-angle to the upper leg. Both of his

stumps, in other words, are in a sitting position. And they will remain in that very same orientation,

without even minor changes, throughout his ordeal. Also worth noting is that the shorter stump looks

considerably di�erent here than it does in later images.



Moving on to the second image, we can clearly see that the hoody guy, mere moments after the blast, is

primarily concerned with donning his sunglasses. Some web posts and videos have claimed that this was to

send a signal to Redcoat – which seems rather unlikely, I have to say, given that the two are obviously close

enough to signal each other verbally. Far more likely is that hoody guy was mostly concerned with

concealing his identity. He will remain in the hoody and shades for as long as he is on the set, even while

receiving medical attention. We can also see more clearly here that Redcoat, Nicole (now visible) and

hoody guy are all within inches of Je�, with his freshly amputated limbs pointed directly at them. In fact,

Je�’s longer stump appears to be wedged in between Redcoat and Nicole. All three accomplices,

nevertheless, will emerge from their ordeal without so much as a drop of Johnny’s blood on them. Also,

none of the three appear to have received any signi�cant injuries despite having been right alongside a guy

who supposedly got both his legs blown o�.



In this third image, we can now see the right-angle bend in Je�’s remaining knee. We can also see that the

bony stump is all but poking Redcoat in the head (which seems, even under the circumstances, kind of

rude). And it is clearly pointing directly at both Redcoat and the hoody guy, both of whom remain

remarkably blood-free. We can also see that no one else in this scene appears to be nearly as gravely injured

as Je�. Also, Redcoat and hoody guy seem rather calm relative to most of the others in the scene, many of

whom are in full panic mode. Lastly, there is no sign of hoody’s wife, who was supposedly alongside him,

or of Nicole’s husband and sister, both of whom were allegedly alongside her.

Moments later, we can see that Je� and Redcoat seem to both be giving the very same hand signal in the

direction of approaching responders while making eye contact with one another. Both stumps continue to

be in a sitting position and both continue to point directly at Redcoat. It doesn’t seem to have yet occurred

to Je� or anyone else to put pressure on his wounds. Hoody guy looks on passively while making no e�ort

to o�er assistance to Je�. Indeed, neither Redcoat nor hoody guy ever make any e�ort to staunch the �ow

of Je�’s blood, which is okay since there doesn’t appear to actually be any blood �owing. Meanwhile,

Nicole has moved out of the shot.



This next series of images captures the same scene from a slightly di�erent vantage point and at a higher

resolution, revealing that hoody guy, demonstrating a considerable amount of manual dexterity for a guy

with a ‘degloved’ hand, began working diligently on Je�’s stumps before the smoke even began to clear.

And he did so without getting any blood on his hands.



We now change positions to look at the same scene just moments later from a di�erent perspective, and

this is where things really start to get interesting. All �ve of our keyplayers (Carlos, Je�, Hoody, Nicole,

and Redcoat) are present and accounted for. Just about everyone else, which is to say all the non-actors,

have �ed the scene. Je� is just behind Redcoat, though he is all but impossible to see. Everyone is ignoring

him. In fact, with the notable exception of Arredondo, no one on the scene is even looking in his direction.

Not a single person.

And speaking of Arredondo, he is, mere moments after the blast and with the smoke still swirling, already

inside the temporary fencing, which obviously would have been impossible had he initially been seated

across the street in the bleachers. And it’s hard not to notice that he isn’t actually rushing to help anyone but

is instead standing idly by, hat and �ag in hand, though he is obviously aware of Je� and appears to be

looking right at him.

Next up is a more detailed view of Arredondo, cropped from a higher resolution version of the above

image. He is indeed inside the fencing and leaning casually against it. He also is quite obviously pointing

with his right hand while shielding the gesture with his hat, as though covertly sending a signal. And he is,

as previously noted, looking at Bauman while doing so.



Below is a close-up of hoody guy, cropped from the same high-resolution image. Hoody is clearly

knocking on death’s door here and we can bear witness to his exposed femurs, shredded and badly bleeding

legs, and partially ‘degloved’ right hand. We can also see that he is very concerned about his missing wife.

Ooops …. actually we can’t see any of that because none of it really happened. What we actually see is a

guy comfortably reclining with a fully intact right hand and two perfectly �ne legs. He hardly even has any

blood on him, and what is visible was undoubtedly picked up from the pavement.

Next up is a close-up of Redcoat, lying in what is supposed to be Bauman’s pooled blood. She nevertheless

has remarkably little blood on her, though she does have an alien growing out of her midsection. I have no

idea if that is supposed to be blood on her otherwise white top, but it certainly doesn’t look like any kind of

normal blood pattern. Overall, despite laying in a pool of blood and having been directly in the line of �re

of Je�’s femoral arteries, she has very little blood on her and doesn’t appear to have su�ered any signi�cant

injuries.



The next image up for review is of Nicole, with her twice-broken left leg, fractured ankle and severed

Achilles tendon. Luckily, those injuries haven’t hindered her mobility as she has clearly moved from her

original position. Those are some excruciatingly painful injuries that she has, but she seems to be toughing

it out okay. She has though been abandoned by her husband, who you would think would be tending to

and comforting her, and her legless sister is nowhere to be seen. Her right arm got peppered with shrapnel,

but luckily for her it was a special kind of shrapnel that shreds clothing �bers but doesn’t penetrate �esh.

That was a relatively common phenomenon in Boston that day, with the guy in the following image,

looking like he just walked o� a �lm set, being a classic example.
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Moving on now to the next image in the sequence of events, we �nd Arredondo moving quickly to aid

Bauman. Just kidding … what we actually �nd him doing is beginning to pull the fence down from the

inside, seemingly oblivious to the fact that he is bringing it down directly on top of one of the victims,

which is probably okay because she was undoubtedly an actress anyway. What is important to note here is

that the Cowboy Hero already had access to the victims but rather than assist them he chose to spend the

next few minutes helping to tear the fence down, pretending as though he hadn’t already been on the other

side of it. No medical personnel are yet on the scene and yet almost all of the victims have already left on

their own, thoughfully carting their severed limbs o� with them. Je�, naturally enough, continues to be

ignored. As can be seen, the bomb shrapnel all passed cleanly between the fence pickets without breaking a

single one.

THE CENTER FOR AN INFORMED AMERICA

The Internet’s Best Source for Disinformation-Free News and Commentary

  U a

https://centerforaninformedamerica.com/author/centerforinformedamerica/
https://centerforaninformedamerica.com/cart/
https://centerforaninformedamerica.com/


In the next image we see that Redcoat has moved away to reveal that the spot previously occupied by her

and the other accomplices is covered with a pool of very unconvincing blood. The fence is now down and

responders are on the scene but Arredondo is nowhere in sight and Je� is being ignored by everyone. Both

of his stumps continue to be at right angles to his body and the knee on the left stump remains bent at a

right angle, though he has rolled onto his side to draw attention away from that. He is now also keeping a

�rm grip on that longer leg/prosthesis and he will continue to do so for as long as he remains in camera

range.

Absurdly enough, hoody guy, while still wearing his shades, is receiving medical attention while Je�, just a

couple of feet away, is apparently invisible. No one has bothered to even fashion a makeshift tourniquet or

two to arrest his alleged bleeding. And why, one wonders, has Je� been abandoned by all his accomplices?

Why, after �rst providing no assistance whatsoever, have all three of them now physically distanced

themselves from him? It clearly wasn’t to get out of the way and let responders tend to his alleged wounds.

And speaking of responders, wouldn’t it have been a nice gesture for hoody to say to rescuers something

along the lines of, “don’t worry about me, guys – the poor motherfucker right there doesn’t have any legs!”



Next up is an image in which we again see that the ground is drenched in stage blood that even Roger

Corman would have balked at using. We also see that both of Je�’s limbs continue to be locked in a sitting

position and that he continues to keep a very tight grip on the left prosthesis. And he continues to su�er

alone, with no one at any time o�ering any assistance whatsoever in any of the recorded images, even

though a responder is clearly standing right there in what is supposed to be his pooled blood, with his back

turned to Je� as though he is guarding him rather than assisting him. Just to the left of Je�’s head can be

seen the boot and camo fatigues of a soldier with the national guard, who also has his back to Je� as though

guarding rather than assisting him. Arredondo remains missing in action. Apparently aware of the presence

of a photographer (who the girl next to him is looking directly at), Je� is now grimacing.



In this next image, Je� is ready for his moment in the spotlight. Ridiculously, he is in a wheelchair rather

than strapped to a gurney. And just as ridiculously, his alleged wounds are on full display because, you

know, no one thought to throw a coat or a sheet or something over them. It couldn’t really be any more

obvious, given the laws of gravity, how absurd it is for a bottomless guy to be transported in an upright

position. There is no question that under any other circumstances, this guy would have been on a gurney

with his wounds covered with a sheet. But that would have ruined the show that his prosthetics were

speci�cally designed for. Also, it would have looked pretty ridiculous to have him in a sitting position while

lying on his back on a gurney.



The next two images are not part of the sequence of events revolving around Je� and his associates, but are

included here as examples of how people on the scene with far less signi�cant leg wounds were handled by

responders. This is how, in the real world, people with alleged leg injuries are transported.



Next up is another view of Je� in the wheelchair. From this angle we can see that his left leg is still bent at

the knee at a right angle, even though that is a very unnatural position for it to be in. Without exertion by

our victim/hero, his lower leg would be hanging straight down. To maintain it in that position would

require physical exertion for the entire time that Bauman remained on the scene, both while on his back

and while in the wheelchair. So apparently Je� not only remained conscious and quite alert throughout his

ordeal, he also maintained enough strength to keep his knee locked at a right-angle.

I should also point out here that though we have a clear view of the street, there isn’t so much as a drop of

blood visible in the wheelchair’s path. Note also that Je�’s longer stump looks quite horrifying here, with

bloody �aps of skin and all manner of nastiness hanging from it, though none of that was visible when he

was waving his stump in his accomplices’ faces while avoiding getting blood on them.



This next image is a highly incriminating one of Redcoat, ready for her photo op. It is clearly the same

woman – same face, same clothes, same purse. But the last time we saw her, she had miraculously survived

the blast without visible injury and had even more miraculously managed to avoid getting drenched in

Je�’s blood. But now, as she is about to be rolled out for the waiting cameras, she has suddenly and

inexplicably become a bloody mess. Note also that Nicole, who had previously been sitting up and looking

around, has once again moved to a di�erent location and is now being treated as though she has a spinal

injury. She also has a makeshift tourniquet around her leg which appears to be unnecessary.

Here is yet another dramatic shot of accomplice #1 being rushed to a waiting ambulance. She is now

bleeding so profusely that there is a river of blood rushing down towards the bottom of the gurney and her

chest is completely drenched. It’s a miracle she’s still alive. Luckily they had a gurney available for her. And

for Nicole as well, as can be seen below. And they also drove the ambulance right up to the site of the blast,

rather than wheeling her down the street. But they could probably only do that for people with really

serious injuries.





There is one other image that must be discussed here. Among the literally hundreds of posted photos that I

have reviewed, it stands out as being the only image in the public domain that comes anywhere close to

depicting the level of carnage described by Arredondo and others. It is the only image that depicts anyone

other than Bauman with an apparently amputated limb. It also depicts some rather dead-looking women

who appear to be being checked for vital signs. And of course Je� himself makes an appearance with his

perpetually bent knee.

There is though a bit of a problem with that particular image: it seems to be at odds with other available

images. If we look at it side-by-side with an earlier image, for example, it is pretty clear that the guy with

the missing lower leg and the two dead women weren’t there initially. And at the risk of sounding



insensitive, I have to note here that dead people and/or people with mangled legs generally have pretty

limited mobility, so the question naturally arises: how did they get there?

One �nal piece of evidence concerning Bauman can be found in a YouTube video. As can be seen, as Je�

is belatedly being rolled out, an EMT rushes up to stop the wheelchair processional to make a last-second

adjustment before Bauman reaches the waiting cameras. Given that Je� was at the time allegedly just

moments away from death, what kind of adjustment could have possibly been so important?

So what have we learned today? Some conclusions can be drawn with a certainty, such as that the story told

by Carlos Arredondo is a complete fabrication. Virtually every aspect of the tale he has told is demonstrably

untrue and yet it has been readily accepted and repeated by the mainstream media. It is also irrefutably true

that the guy calling himself ‘Christian Williams’ has also left a reeking pile of bullshit on the table. His

phantom injuries, which he has used to raise some $100,000 (is that the going rate these days for selling

your soul?), were entirely imaginary and his wife is nowhere to be seen in any of the photos. We also know

that the image of Redcoat that was presented to waiting photographers was an entirely contrived one,

complete with lots of added stage blood. And we know that ‘Nicole Gross’ didn’t really break her leg in

two places and wasn’t really standing with her husband and sister when the blast occurred.

And what about ‘Je� Bauman’? Did he really have both of his legs blown o�? Is it really possible for

someone to have both legs blown apart like that while those around him walk away with barely a scratch?

And is it really possible that the people who were pressed up against him could somehow avoid being

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-7l73BxWr0Q
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drenched in blood? And is it possible that real blood does sometimes look like red paint? And that with two

freshly severed femoral arteries, there wouldn’t have been a much, much larger pool of blood? And is it

within the realm of possibility that everyone around him, including numerous �rst responders, could have

completely ignored his dire condition for an inordinate amount of time? And that when he was �nally

‘rescued’ it was by being rolled o� to who-knows-where in a wheelchair? And should we just ignore the

fact that hoody was manipulating Je�’s stumps immediately after the blast, while shielded by smoke? And

should we also ignore the curious fact that Je�’s stumps remain locked in the exact same position

throughout his ordeal? And that Carlos can be seen signaling to him very soon after the blast occurred, after

which he subsequently ignored him for a considerable amount of time? And that Je� didn’t bother

mentioning that while allegedly praising Arredondo from his hospital bed?

None of that, quite frankly, seems very plausible to me. It also seem very unlikely that a guy who really did

have his legs blown o� would �nd himself surrounded by people who were obviously there as actors

playing roles. I will be the �rst to admit though that the notion that the government would use amputee

actors to portray trauma victims, complete with Hollywood blood and gore, seems a rather bizarre notion.

But it is not, strangely enough, wild-eyed conspiracy theorizing to suggest such a thing. To the contrary,

as this video clip culled from the mainstream media clearly demonstrates, it is an acknowledged fact that the

government does indeed employ amputee actors for training purposes.

That doesn’t mean, of course, that the government used actors in the Boston bombing operation. It does

though mean that there are amputees out there who have experience convincingly portraying victims of

severe trauma, and it means that the government is more than happy to employ them during training

exercises, and that it does so primarily for shock value. And nothing in recent memory, I have to say, had

quite the shock value of the guy at the �nish line of the Boston Marathon with the shredded legs.

It’s okay though. You can go back to sleep now. I’m sure everything is going to work out just �ne. Don’t

be surprised though if you wake up one day soon to �nd the streets lined with armored personnel carriers

and the skies �lled with military helicopters. Because if you accept the implementation of martial law in

Boston as a legitimate response to a patently fake ‘terrorist’ attack, then you have given your seal of

approval for far more wide-reaching and far more permanent states of martial law in the not-so-distant

future. And it will happen. The only question is when.
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There are a number of additional questions raised by the photo evidence that I feel compelled to address

here. But �rst, let’s take another look at one image that was presented at the tail end of my last post. You

know the one I’m talking about – the one that features two apparently dead people and two guys who have

had one or both of their legs blown o�.
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After further review, I have a number of questions about this shot, beginning with why, given that the

media establishment was clearly on a mission to traumatize us with the most graphic images available, do

we have only one shot of this particular scene – and an out-of-focus, poorly exposed one at that? And why

is this the only view we have of the hollowed-out leg guy, who we can’t even recognize from this angle

and distance? Given the numerous graphic, very bloody images we have of Je�, why didn’t this guy get

equal time? Were his prosthetics and make-up not as convincing as Je�’s? Where are the close-up shots of

him lying in a pool of his own blood? And where is his iconic wheelchair shot?

What is up, by the way, with the strawberry blond gal in the red top? Why is she still there? She doesn’t

have any visible injuries that would prevent her from leaving, or at least moving, yet she seems very

reluctant to give up her position. Even when Carlos pinned her under the fence, she remained unfazed, just

as she is unfazed by the two guys just behind her with mutilated legs who are presumably howling in pain,

and by the dead woman and the nearly dead woman just behind her, and by the large pools of blood all

around her. She also doesn’t seem concerned with the fact that she is clearly impeding the progress of the

responder trying to work on the girl behind her. And speaking of responders, you gotta love that there is

one walking right between Je� and the hollow-leg guy while o�ering help to neither of them. I’m

guessing that if we had audio with this pic we’d hear him saying, “Anyone here need any help? Anyone?

Anyone at all?”

And what are we to make of the two women in the foreground? Are they both dead? If so, how exactly did

they die? They don’t have a mark on their faces or upper bodies, and as Je�’s saga has taught us, the human

body can withstand an incredible amount of trauma to the lower extremities. You can have your legs

blown clean o� and then bleed out unattended for a considerable amount of time and yet still remain

conscious and fully alert and even have enough strength left to sit upright in a wheelchair while holding

your stump aloft. So what was it that killed these two women so quickly? Not far away, Je� is still able to

sit up entirely on his own and he doesn’t have any legs at all!



The frail old runner who was knocked over by the blast was, as best it can be determined from available

videotape, just on the other side of the temporary barricade from these women. And yet, by his own

account, he was uninjured and was able to complete the race. So how exactly is it possible that a healthy

young woman was hit with lethal force but a guy who looked like he was already half dead was just 10-15

feet further away from the explosion and directly in the line of �re and yet he walked away without a

scratch on him? In what alternative reality could that actually happen?

Another very obvious question raised here is: if these women are in fact dead, then why are they not

included in the o�cial victim tally? As the story goes, there were only three deaths that day and two of the

fallen were an eight-year-old boy and a young Asian woman. That only leaves one spot to �ll and yet we

have two bodies. Why then are we being shown women who we are clearly supposed to assume are dead

when the o�cial story holds that at least one of them can’t possibly be?

According to email I have received from a couple of incensed readers, the two women pictured are Krystle

Campbell and her friend, Karen Rand. According to the o�cial story, Ms Campbell was killed by the blast

but her friend was not, though she was severely injured. Fair enough, I suppose … except that there are

serious problems with the Campbell/Rand story as reported by our illustrious ‘free’ press. On the left below

is a pic of the two women that was supposedly taken just hours before they were struck down. Beside that

is a widely circulated photo of Ms Campbell, and beside that is a cropped and rotated version of the

previous image.

Given the quality of the image, it is impossible to determine with any certainty whether the two women

lying near the �nish line are the same women depicted in the ‘before’ image, though it certainly seems

quite possible that they are. Unfortunately though, that ‘before’ photo is wildly at odds with photos that

have been released that purport to depict Ms Rand recuperating in her hospital bed. And while the gal in

the image to the left above could conceivably be the woman in black in the crime scene image, the woman

below most certainly could not be.

It’s amazing how much di�erence just a few days can make, isn’t it? Ms Rand clearly let herself go while in

the hospital. The rather �t, shapely, youthful young lady in the before pic has been replaced by a decidedly



heavyset, middle-aged woman. The o�cial narrative holds that Rand is �fty-two years old, which is clearly

about twice the apparent age of the woman in the middle photo above. The o�cial story also holds that

Campbell was initially listed as injured but alive, with the mix-up being attributed to a case of mistaken

identity. For reasons that have never been explained, Rand was supposedly carrying Campbell’s

identi�cation rather than her own. And doctors, despite having the woman to the left above fully exposed

on the operating table, did not realize that she wasn’t a rather petite, 29-year-old blond woman. I’m sure

that kind of thing happens all the time. And it is also probably fairly common to pose someone cheek-to-

cheek with their deceased friend. But since the woman in black clearly isn’t the Karen Rand pictured in the

hospital bed, then apparently it is actually a stranger posed cheek-to-cheek with the deceased Ms Campbell.

And that, I have to say, is pretty bizarre.

In other news, the guy who is a living embodiment of “Boston Strong,” Mr. Je� Bauman, is back in the

news with an interesting account of his ordeal. And by “interesting account,” I mean a version of events

that bears no resemblance at all to either previously published accounts or to the photographic record. In

the earlier version of events, it will be recalled, Bauman “woke up under so much drugs, asked for a paper

and pen and wrote, ‘bag, saw the guy, looked right at me.'” And that drug-addled tip, of course, is what led

the FBI to crack the case.

In the new and improved version of events, Je� was telling anyone who would listen that he knew who

was responsible within moments of the blasts. Swiftly carted o� to a waiting ambulance, “Bauman told the

man attending to him that he knew who had set o� the bomb. Although he was somewhat delirious and in

shock, Bauman remembered what he’d seen. When he was unloaded from the ambulance, he told an o�cer

the same thing. But he was rushed into the emergency room and into surgery so quickly that he didn’t

have time to share the details. When Bauman woke up, FBI agents were outside his door, ready to hear

what he had to say. He started talking, and a sketch artist started drawing.”

Close enough, I guess. But his account of his encounter with the alleged bomber is completely di�erent as

well. When the tale was �rst told, “Bauman was waiting among the crowd for his girlfriend to cross the

�nish line at the Boston Marathon. A man wearing a cap, sunglasses and a black jacket over a hooded

sweatshirt looked at Je�, 27, and dropped a bag at his feet … Two and a half minutes later, the bag

exploded, tearing Je�’s legs apart.”

The new story has a few minor variations: “When Je� Bauman looked Tamerlan Tsarnaev in the face, he

knew something wasn’t quite right. Tsarnaev, then an anonymous man in a cap, sunglasses and backpack,

seemed out of place … Bauman was at the marathon to watch his girlfriend, along with her two

roommates. One of them, Michele Mahoney, was also badly injured and is now recovering in the next

room over from Bauman at Spaulding. Just before Bauman saw Tsarnaev, he was looking for Mahoney so

they could move farther down, just in case they’d missed his girlfriend crossing the �nish line. The weird

feeling Tsarnaev gave him made his desire to move more urgent. As he was looking for Mahoney, he saw a

black backpack alone on the ground – the same one he’d seen on the suspicious man. Then, that pop.”

So, uhmm, the bag wasn’t dropped at his feet after all? He just had some kind of superhuman ability to

identify one particular black backpack to the exclusion of all other black backpacks? Meaning that, even if

we choose to believe Bauman’s ever-evolving story, we are left to conclude that he couldn’t actually

connect Tsarnaev, or anyone else for that matter, to the alleged backpack?

http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/victim-in-iconic-photo-says-he-saw-bomber/2013/04/19/0de8b100-a8a3-11e2-a8e2-5b98cb59187f_story.html
http://www.concordmonitor.com/news/6042537-95/jeff-bauman-shares-his-boston-marathon-story-including-his-encounter-with-suspect-tamerlan-tsarnaev
http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/victim-in-iconic-photo-says-he-saw-bomber/2013/04/19/0de8b100-a8a3-11e2-a8e2-5b98cb59187f_story.html
http://www.concordmonitor.com/news/6042537-95/jeff-bauman-shares-his-boston-marathon-story-including-his-encounter-with-suspect-tamerlan-tsarnaev


Bauman also provided a new account of the supposedly very brief time that he lay on the ground awaiting

help: “Bauman lay on the ground, �rst thinking someone had lit a �rework in the street. He propped

himself up and saw people screaming and running amid rubble. At �rst, he couldn’t feel the pain. He

remembers lying back, trying to move and touch his legs. He yelled out. He looked for Mahoney, who had

been taken away. He felt around grasping for his cell phone. He felt like he’d been lying there forever. ‘I

was just laying there and I was just like, ‘Oh I’m gonna die,’ so I was looking for my cell phone to call

people, and I couldn’t �nd it,’ he said. That’s when Carlos Arredondo, the cowboy-hat hero made famous

from the now-iconic photograph of the two men together, came to his side. ‘He’s gotta go!’ Arredondo

was yelling, and before Bauman knew it Arredondo hoisted him up by his T-shirt, threw him in a

wheelchair and took o� – over the �nish line, through the medical tent and right into the ambulance.”

That’s a very touching story and all, but it is completely at odds with all the photographic evidence. In the

moments after the blast, he didn’t prop himself up to see people running and screaming; he was on his back

with his attention focused on the people directly in front of him. And where exactly was the “rubble”? I’ve

reviewed a lot of images and I have yet to see anything resembling rubble. As for lying back and

attempting to move and touch his legs, they were sticking straight up in the air; he could not only touch

them, he could see them! His girlfriend’s roommate was apparently whisked away immediately, but by

whom? There were no responders on the scene that quickly. It’s funny how Je�, hoody and Nicole all

claim to have been waiting with companions when the bomb detonated, but none of those companions

can actually be seen in any of the available images.

I could also comment on the claim that Arredondo quickly came to his rescue, but that story has already

been so thoroughly discredited that it hardly seems worth the e�ort.

One question that really needs to be asked here is: what the hell is up with all the leg amputations? Exactly

what kind of bomb was this supposed to be? Because the last time I checked, crude pressure-cooker bombs

weren’t directional. They’ll pretty much damage or destroy everything within a given radius. But this

appears to have been a very special kind of bomb that only targeted things within 2-3 feet of the ground.

I’ve lost count of how many media stories I’ve read that have featured amputated legs, but I have yet to read

a story about someone who lost an arm. Or even a hand. How could that be? A post on the Washington Post

website contains the stories of a sampling of the Boston victims. By my count, this group lost a total of 12

legs that day, plus an additional foot, and a number of other legs were saved only by the heroic e�orts of

responders and doctors. Not a single person though lost an arm, or a hand, or even a �nger. Unless a whole

lot of people had formed huddles around the bombs just before they went o�, I’m at a loss for any sort of

rational explanation for that.

ABC News has boldly proclaimed that more than 25 people lost limbs that day. Some of the explosive

amputation stories told by the media have been ridiculously over-the-top in their absurdity. Take, for

example, the case of the guy calling himself Jarrod Clowery, who told the Washington Post that no fewer

than three of his companions had their legs blown o�: “Three of Clowery’s buddies who were with him

each lost limbs in the bombings … Clowery believes he already was in the air, clearing the metal guardrail,

when the explosion hit, which may have saved his legs. His friends still were grounded. ‘They’re all big

guys. I think they spared some other people when they took that impact.'”

If everyone in the blast zone had been walking on stilts, it appears, there wouldn’t have been any injuries at

all. The next best thing, I guess, would have been to stand behind some really big guys. Those are

important things to remember if you ever �nd yourself in a crowded public space in the future.

http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/liveblog/wp/2013/04/23/boston-marathon-bombings-stories-of-the-victims/
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Amazingly enough, Clowery isn’t the only one claiming to have had three companions fall victim to the

leg-severing bombs. Our old friend Shrapnel Man has made the very same claim. The media would like us

to believe that Shrapnel Man, whose name is allegedly James “Bim” Costello, was seriously injured by the

bombings, to such an extent that he was initially unsure if he would make it out alive. And that, of course,

makes me feel just terrible for having previously mocked the image below.

Costello’s body was “so burned that he was left needing pig skin grafts on most of his right arm and right

leg. Costello had plucked two rusty roo�ng nails from his stomach and was trying to walk toward any help

he could �nd following the explosions, his ears ringing, his body pebbled with shrapnel, and his mind

reeling from the thought moments earlier that he might be dying … Three of the friends who were with

Costello on race day each lost a leg.”

So he walked away from his three friends who were bleeding out on the pavement? I guess he had a photo

shoot to get to. If his body is ‘pebbled’ with shrapnel, by the way, then why do you suppose it is that he

doesn’t seem to have so much as a drop of blood on his shirt? Even if he had received no injuries himself,

how is it possible to have been alongside three guys who literally had their legs blown o� and not be

covered with blood? Of course, the same question can be asked of just about everyone who was within the

blast zones.

I shouldn’t really need to point out here that when a couple dozen legs are blown asunder, all that blood,

bone and �esh goes somewhere. Actually, what I should say is that all of that blood and tissue goes

everywhere. The reality is that, as bloody as some of the pictures we were assaulted with were, they were not

actually nearly bloody enough to lend any credence at all to the o�cial story. Below is a fairly high

resolution shot taken almost immediately after the �rst detonation (note that most of the people in the

foreground are still holding their ears). Countless legs have just been explosively amputated, covering the

http://news.yahoo.com/marathon-bombing-survivor-wants-others-remembered-063342868.html


scene in hundreds of pounds of blood and gore, as if someone had fed a dozen human legs into an industrial

wood chipper. Take a look for yourself.

Did you see all the blood and chunks of meat? On all the people? And all over the ground? And on the

�ags? And on everything else? You saw it all … right? Because it has to be there. There’s really no way

around it. If the o�cial story is true, and if all the media reports of explosively amputated legs are true, and

if all the photos we have seen of people recovering in hospital beds are real, then it has to be there. I

personally haven’t been able to �nd it, but maybe you’ll have better luck.

Did you also notice, by the way, that while the guy in the center of the scene apparently uses the same

ultra-trendy tailor as Shrapnel Man, no one else in the frame has so much as lost a button? Their clothing is

fully intact and soot-free – the sole exception being The Running Man, who we will take a closer look at

in the next installment. For now, we’ll just take note of the fact that this was some very high-tech shrapnel,

with the amazing ability to weave through the crowd and selectively target one guy’s clothes and several

other people’s legs while leaving everyone else untouched. I really hope that the FBI is diligently

investigating this case to determine how the ‘terrorists’ obtained such cutting-edge technology.

Let’s return now to Shrapnel Man, who we are told is still in the hospital nearly a full month after su�ering

his injuries. The photo below was purportedly taken on May 10, three-and-a-half weeks after the

bombing. Beside it is Shrapnel Man’s left leg as of April 15. It only looks slightly worse now than it did

then, so I guess his doctors have things under control.



Now let’s take a look at some of the overlooked victims of the Boston Marathon bombing. These images

haven’t been widely distributed so you likely haven’t seen them before. Notice that, despite the gravity of

their wounds, this seems to be a good-natured group of survivors. But that is because they aren’t really

injured. And the images weren’t captured in Boston. These people are, in reality, actors hired by the

Pennsylvania National Guard to portray victims of a fake ‘dirty bomb’ attack in the fall of 2011. Our

government, you see, has been practicing this kind of thing for quite some time now.



Returning now to the topic of severed legs, we all know, of course, that all those legs were taken o� by

shrapnel. But was there really any shrapnel in that device? Shrapnel ejected with enough force to literally

tear someone’s legs o� would travel a very long way. So was there some kind of special, invisible shrapnel

guard between the sidewalk and the street? Or was it all magically held back by that rickety picket fence?

Because we know that none of the runners out in the street were injured. Even the old guy who was

knocked over, as previously noted, got up, dusted himself o� and crossed the �nish line. And I don’t recall

reading about the bleachers across the street getting peppered with shrapnel. But it is perfectly obvious that

not all of the ejected shrapnel would have found a nearby target. Much of it would have continued on out

into the street and beyond. So where did it go? And how did it avoid hitting any of the runners or

spectators?

Shortly after the Boston bombings, the thoughtful folks over at CNN put on a little demonstration of the

destructive power of a pressure-cooker bomb. In the linked video, the reporter on the scene explains how,

“for safety reasons, we’ve had to retreat to this mountaintop here. We are now over a quarter of a mile

away from where we left that pressure cooker. But that’s still not far enough to avoid �ying shrapnel, so

we’re watching from inside a bunker.”

To recap then, a quarter mile is not a safe distance to be from a real pressure-cooker bomb, but people

standing just a few feet away from the Boston bombs walked away without a scratch on them. And no one

beyond the �imsy temporary barrier, which was maybe ten yards from the detonation site, was a�ected at

all. Why, by the way, haven’t we seen any of the alleged shrapnel (described at various times as consisting

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cH5gHS_o_eA


of nails, BBs, ball bearings, or rusty roo�ng nails)? Does anyone remember seeing the police display any

shrapnel they recovered at the scene? Or any reporters walking their cameramen over to take a look at the

shrapnel embedded in the building facades and in trees? Anyone seen any Facebook photos or Youtube

videos of curiosity seekers visiting the site to look for shrapnel? Or the divots that would have de�nitely

been left by real shrapnel?

We will return to the subject of shrapnel in the next installment, after I have had time to sort through and

organize all the images I have collected. I’ll leave o� for now with another painfully obvious question that is

begged by the photo evidence: where exactly are all the alleged victims of this attack? Last I heard, the

count stood at 267, with three dead and 264 wounded. But even if we take a worst-case scenario approach

to analyzing the available images, maybe 10% of those victims can be accounted for. And that is being very

generous. So where are all the rest? And why did the count magically grow from the relatively modest

numbers that were initially reported, likely based on the number of victims reporters saw being carted

away, to the ridiculous �nal count that we now have?

“But wait a minute,” you’re probably thinking, “what about the second blast site? Maybe the other 250 or

so victims were over there.” Maybe … but that, as it turns out, is impossible to determine.

Wouldn’t it be really weird if a bomb went o� at a major event in a major American city and afterwards

there wasn’t a single photograph in the public domain documenting that fact? Not a single photo of the site

of the explosion, or of any victims lying on the ground, or of any responders either on the scene or even

headed to the scene, or of any of the victims being carried away from the scene? Almost as if the event

never even took place at all, except that the explosion itself was captured on video, so it clearly did happen?

Wouldn’t that seem really bizarre?

That is, nevertheless, exactly what happened, and yet no one seems to �nd it unusual at all. There were

obviously reporters and camera crews on the scene and yet no one appears to have bothered to stroll down

the street to take a look at the second bombing site. Why? Was there nothing to see there? The �rst site

was, in fairly short order, swarming with police, military personnel, medical responders, Good Samaritans,

news crews, ambulances, etc. Shouldn’t there have been a similar scene at the second site? Actually, since

the vast majority of the victims necessarily had to come from the second site, shouldn’t there have been an

even larger and more chaotic scene going on there? But if so, then why did we see none of that? Why did

we not even catch a passing glimpse of it?

All I have been able to come up with is a few seconds of video footage which appears to have been clipped

from a European newscast. It’s di�cult to determine much of anything from the very brief clip, and the

narration added to it is ridiculous, but there really doesn’t appear to have been a whole lot going on and we

are shown only a couple of apparent casualties. So we are still well short of accounting for 267 victims. And

how about that survival rate? 267 struck down, many with very grave injuries, and yet we lost just three?

Nearly a 99% survival rate? That, my friends, is what ‘Boston Strong’ is all about.

One �nal note (for now at least): I have read in several accounts of the bombings that the explosive charges

were placed so as to maximize the amount of damage they would do. That hardly seems to be the case. To

the contrary, they seem to have been placed to minimize the damage. And that, I have to say, doesn’t really

seem like something a ‘terrorist’ would do.

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p4ms5A6QH60
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You didn’t think we were done here, did you? Not even close. As it turns out, much to my surprise, I

haven’t even thrown some of my best punches yet.

We begin, as we did on the last outing, with that image of the two women we are clearly supposed to

believe are dead. After complaining in the last post that there weren’t any other views of this scene

available, I discovered that there is, in fact, another image in the public domain, presumably taken by the

same photographer within moments of when the other image was captured.
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The second shot, though technically a much better photograph, has not been widely circulated. But that is

probably because it clearly reveals that the above shot was a wholly contrived, posed, stage-managed a�air.

In the second shot, the two ‘dead’ actresses don’t have their heads pressed together and both have their eyes

and mouths open. And maybe it’s just me, but the girl who is supposed to be an EMT appears to be smiling

at them! Also, we can see that the hollow-leg guy, hereafter referred to as The Other Je�, still has his lower

leg and foot.



Did you notice, by the way, that the responder who was previously in between Je� and The Other Je� is

now assisting the guy who didn’t just get both his legs blown o�? The Other Je�, as it turns out, was also

hauled away by wheelchair, which seems to have been the preferred method of transport for people with

really serious fake injuries. His leg isn’t showing though so someone really dropped the ball on that photo-

op.

I’m sure you noticed that in the ‘dead women’ photo, Ms Campbell’s legs appear to be thoroughly

mangled, bent at impossible angles and quite possibly detached. But they’re not. She was just posed to make

it look that way. We know that because when she was wheeled o�, her legs were still fully attached and

they had been magically straightened. Seems kind of weird that the medical personnel didn’t straighten

them when she was on the ground though, so that her injuries could be evaluated.



Campbell is obviously still alive while being transported, but she allegedly expired upon arrival at the

medical tent. Or while she was being treated at the medical tent. The stories vary. More than one version of

the story has been told by the guy in the bloodless yellow shirt who is holding the oxygen mask. Identi�ed

as Dr. Allan Panter, he is, like Carlos, one of the heroes of this tall tale. According to legend, it was ‘fate’

that brought him all the way from Gainesville, Georgia (or Sylva, North Carolina, depending upon

whether it is a North Carolina or a Georgia newspaper that is reporting the story) to within 20-30 feet (by

his own account) of the site of the �rst detonation. Luckily though, he didn’t get injured and was able to

swiftly go to work helping others.



In the next installment we’ll take a closer look at the good doctor, while noting here that he can also be

seen in the next image, rushing to the scene … well, not exactly rushing, but kind of casually strolling onto

the scene. He can also be seen in the smiling EMT shot; he’s the guy sticking his ass in Je�’s face and

showing a considerable amount of concern for the two not-really-dead women.

We are, I’m guessing, supposed to believe that Campbell just kind of landed in that bloody heap due to the

force of the blast. But as we can see in the next image, she was initially on her side in something of a

spooning arrangement with the younger and slimmer version of Karen Rand. But that was before Carlos

crushed them under the fence while he was, you know, saving people. Before the dueling corpses pic was

taken, Campbell rolled over onto her back and repositioned her right leg. And her sidekick was

repositioned as well.

Next up is a fascinating video shot by a spectator who was in the blast zone �lming the race when the �rst

device detonated. The post-blast footage is understandably shaky and erratic, consisting basically of a

jumbled mass of images, and the conclusions drawn by the guy who put the Youtube video together are

overreaching, to say the least, but when the footage is slowed down, one thing becomes very clear: at the

time of the explosion, our old friend hoody was not in the position he was later photographed in. To the

contrary, he was sitting down in front of Lenscrafters with his back to the wall, calmly waiting to take his

place amidst the manufactured carnage. And luckily for him, he was sitting outside the windows that didn’t

get blown out.

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JLbbsirVI_k


What that means, of course, is that while everyone else was moving quickly away from the scene, hoody

plunged right into the midst of the smoke cloud. And as we already know, he didn’t do that to o�er

assistance to victims; he did it to play the role of a victim himself. And amazingly enough, he was able to

move himself into position despite having two exposed femurs, shredded legs and a ‘degloved’ right hand!

While it is impossible to say for sure since we have previously only seen him in a hood and sunglasses, I’m

guessing that this is hoody being wheeled o� to a waiting ambulance. Notice that they had plenty of sheets

and blankets on hand to completely wrap him from neck to toe, but they didn’t have anything available to

cover Ms Campbell’s leg wounds. You don’t suppose that could be because they wanted Campbell’s graphic

wounds on full display while seeking to hide the fact that hoody didn’t have a mark on him, do you?

Hoody, of course, needed oxygen, though Je� and The Other Je� were able to man-up and do without.

Let’s change course now and talk for a little bit about what thoroughly inept ‘terrorists’ those wild and

crazy Tsarnaev brothers were. They had the right idea – engineer a mass-casualty incident at a high-pro�le

event in a major American city. That is, after all, what ‘terrorists’ do, isn’t it? And that is what our illustrious



Department of Homeland Security trains for. But these two particular ‘terrorists’ made two major, colossal

mistakes, which we will now take a look at.

Error #1: timing is everything. A few hours before the devices detonated, there was a huge crowd gathered

near the �nish line, as can be seen in the next photo. They were there to see the winners from the various

divisions cross the �nish line. But no one really cares who crosses the �nish line a couple hours after the

winners have been crowned, so the crowds had dwindled to a considerable degree by the time of the

explosions. So a ‘terrorist’ who had put a little thought into it would most likely have placed and detonated

the bombs a couple hours earlier.

Also on hand a couple hours before the blasts was a whole shitload of professional sports photographers.

You can see them in the image above, kneeling at the �nish line while waiting to get their money shots.

And there were many, many more on what is known as the photo-bridge just beyond the �nish line. But

they of course were long gone as well, depriving us of potentially thousands of high-resolution photos of

what really happened that day.

If someone had placed a bomb on the pavement in the midst of the dense �nish line crowd we see above,

then it seems reasonable to conclude that we would in fact have had the kind of mass-casualty event

described by the media, with scores of serious injuries and far more than three dead. But that would only

have been true if the ‘terrorists’ had not committed Error #2: don’t forget to pack some shrapnel in the bomb.

This next image was initially a bit ba�ing to me. What I was having trouble with was �guring out why

the shrapnel shield this victim was standing behind didn’t protect her. As can be seen, the paper shield

appears to have successfully stopped all the low-�ying shrapnel, with nary a tear or puncture to be seen. So

I couldn’t �gure out how she had been hit. But then I remembered that this was a special kind of magic

shrapnel that had the ability to turn corners to seek out victims.



The next image confused me for the opposite reason; the shrapnel shield is clearly sagging where the blast

has occurred, leaving a number of people vulnerable, but yet they all seem to be okay. I guess the shield was

still high enough to protect their lower extremities.

Here we see another view of the thin, nylon mesh (I’m guessing here) shrapnel guard, which survived the

blast without a single penetration. The wood railing just ten feet or so from the blast site also held up pretty

well. And it’s not even attached to the ground, by the way. It is a temporary, movable assembly. And it not

only wasn’t damaged, it’s still standing and didn’t even move. And the brick façade of the building appears

to be shrapnel-proof as well. Even the lowest portions of it.



Given the absurdity of these images, is there really any room left for reasonable debate on the topic of

shrapnel? Side-by-side below is essentially the same moment in time captured in two di�erent images. On

one side of the temporary barrier is a horrifying scene of bodies along the fence line cut to ribbons by

shrapnel. And on the other side there was not a single injury of any magnitude – not to any runners, or to

any race o�cials, or to any spectators, or to any of the workers on the course – despite the undeniable fact

that the only additional protection the people on the outside of the barrier had was about ten feet of air.

Unless we choose to hide our heads in the sand, the only conclusion that can be drawn is that there was no

shrapnel in what was essentially an oversized version of a Red Devil safe-and-sane smoke bomb. And that

necessarily means that none of those graphic injuries were real. Some innocent bystanders were likely

injured by �ying glass or by being trampled by others, but no one, including Je� Bauman, lost a leg.

Losing both your legs at such a young age, I have to say, would really suck. But you know what sucks even

more than that? Ruining your favorite shirt on the same day you get your legs blown o�.
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Predictably enough, I have received email berating me for stooping so low as to attack the victims of this

tragedy. It should be perfectly clear though by now, to anyone who is paying attention, that I have done

no such thing. The people in those graphic, blood-soaked images were not the victims of this attack. You

and I were.

That’s all for now, but there is more to come. Stay tuned.
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I don’t think that it is any big secret that I am not much of a fan of Fox News. But every once in a while,

even Fox lets a little bit of truth slip out, though certainly not intentionally. Take for example a fascinating

Youtube clip which features a befuddled Shepard Smith (at least I think it is Smith; he doesn’t appear on

camera) trying to make sense of the live aerial footage he, along with the audience, is viewing.

The �rst couple minutes is a ground level view of people rushing back and forth. At about the 2:20 mark is

where it starts to get interesting. That is when our old friend Je� Bauman is wheeled out with his gruesome

wounds on display. Smith appears to be genuinely horri�ed by what his network is splashing across the

screen (which is, of course, the reaction we were all supposed to have), after which he begins speculating

on what has just happened: “We do not see an enormous amount of structural damage at all. What we see

is windows that are blown out and people who are injured who came from behind those glass walls.” (emphasis

added)

The “glass walls” he is referring to, of course, would be the blown-out glass storefront of the Lenscrafters

outlet, which raises a rather provocative question: did Smith actually see footage of the actors emerging

from within Lenscrafters to take their places on the pavement? Is that where the prosthetics, make-up and

costuming were handled?

Smith then o�ers up the theory that the explosion was in what he assumes to be a hotel, and that it could

possibly have been the result of a gas leak in the kitchen. His confusion is entirely understandable given

that there was a noticeable lack of any indication that there had been an explosion out on the pavement,

including a serious shortage of visible victims. Smith then listens in as local Fox reporter Maria Stephanos

talks with the anchor for the local Fox a�liate, who is identi�ed only as Mike. Stephanos quickly dismisses

the second blast as insigni�cant. She then goes on to say that the �rst blast did not occur at ground level,
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but rather midway up the building. Mike interjects, “So, Maria, again just to make this point, since you

were right there, you’re saying from what you could see, it didn’t seem like the explosion happened on the

ground but actually happened in the building?” To which Maria quickly responds, “Exactly, Mike, in the

middle of a building. I was right there. I turned around and you saw the plume of smoke in the middle of the

building.”

So the bomb went o� midway up the building, but it blew o� everyone’s legs?! That doesn’t sound quite

right. What does sound entirely plausible though is that a smoke bomb was detonated over the heads of the

crowd, providing cover for the actors, in full wardrobe and make-up, to swiftly emerge from Lenscrafters

to take up their positions on the pavement. And if that sounds crazy to you, blame Fox News. They’re the

ones who reported it.

Below is a shot of the scene of the crime not long after the smoke bomb was detonated. We’ve seen this

shot or ones very similar to it before, but our focus has been on the actors in the scene, all of whom are

basically within the center triangle. But let’s shift our focus instead to the stragglers on the scene at the

bottom of the image who aren’t actors. I’ve enlarged that area for you to make it easier to ascertain what is

going on.



Did you notice that pretty much all the people along the fence line who aren’t running away, beginning

with the bald guy with sunglasses and continuing down to the guy in the red jacket and blue cap, are all

looking in the same direction? And it’s not at the ground, where the bomb supposedly detonated and

where all the alleged victims are laid out. No, they are all looking at a spot about midway up the building,

above where all the fake victims are sprawled out. That’s a pretty strange coincidence, isn’t it?

It would appear then that there were no backpack bombs. And if there were no backpack bombs, then

there obviously were no backpack bombers. So it really doesn’t matter if the Tsarvaev brothers were among

the spectators that day, and it doesn’t matter whether they were or were not wearing backpacks, and it

doesn’t even matter whether Je� Bauman ever makes up his mind about whether he saw one of the

brothers set his pack down, because none of that has anything at all to do with what happened in Boston

on April 15.

The Tsarzaev brothers did not detonate smoke bombs above the heads of spectators. The Tsarnaev brothers

did not hire a bunch of crisis actors and out�t them with make-up and prosthetics. The Tsarnaev brothers

did not ensure that there would be fake responders like Carlos Arredondo on the scene to rush to the aid of

the fake victims. And the Tsarnaev brothers did not see to it that all avenues of the American media would

report the story the way Washington wanted it reported.

Let’s now return, as promised in the last post, to the tale of the heroic Dr. Allan Panter, who gave Carlos a

serious run for his money for the title of ‘the most brazen liar to emerge from the Boston debacle.’ One

breathless account of Panter’s heroics (the one that claims that he is an ER doc in North Carolina), reads as

follows: “Now, Panter steps into hell … The bombs, which authorities say were stu�ed with ball bearings

and nails, have ripped through the bystanders, creating what Panter describes as a ‘mangled mess.’ One of

the �rst victims Panther (sic) treats is a man dug out from the street-front rubble. His legs now end at the

knee. Nearby, a young woman in her mid-20s goes into cardiac arrest. Panter works to keep her airways

open. Someone else does CPR. They get a pulse. The victim is loaded on a stretcher and rushed to an

impromptu medical tent. Panter later hears that she dies.”

http://www.charlotteobserver.com/2013/04/16/3986491/fate-puts-doctor-where-he-was.html


Does anyone recall seeing Je� Bauman being dug out from under any rubble? Or seeing anything in any

of the images that might be characterized as a “mangled mess” of bodies?

The woman referenced is, of course, Krystle Campbell. In another version of events, Panter is described as

an ER doc from Gainesville, Georgia, and the Krystle Campbell tale is told as follows: “Allan Panter spoke

with ABC News and he said he and another volunteer worked on a seriously injured woman right after the

blast. ‘I started trying to control the airway, another gentleman started doing CPR and we worked until we

got a stretcher there,’ said Panter. ‘We had a pulse until we got her to the medical tent and then we lost

her.’”

So I’m a little confused. Did Panter leave her at the tent and then later learn that she had expired, or did she

die upon arrival at the tent? Perhaps some of Panter’s interviews can clear that up, such as this one where,

referring to Je� Bauman, he boldly claims that, “a lady that we pulled out from under him was in traumatic

arrest, basically. And we started working on her in between trying to put tourniquets around the

gentleman who was laying right beside of her.”

Oh, I see. So Bauman was actually lying on top of Campbell. And so both of them, I suppose, were buried

under the rubble. She must have been pretty hard to get to. I guess that’s why Panter ignored her for so

long. But once he had dug the two of them out, he worked on them side-by-side, which of course is

directly contradicted by numerous photos. Panter though has a script to follow, the evidence be damned, so

he also claims that, “the gentleman who had his legs blown o� had singed facial hair, so he obviously got a

lot of the heat from it.” Obviously.

http://www.accessnorthga.com/detail.php?n=260525
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zVhrv6JCwqM


In another interview, Panter described how he quickly swung into action “and just started helping with the

other bystanders, pulling people actually apart, because they were laying in a pile basically, with mangled

limbs.” Once again, Panter is describing exactly what we have seen in the available photos, so there is no

reason to suspect that he is anything other than a great American hero. Of that other great American hero,

Je� Bauman, Panter has said that, “He was pretty much as you’d describe, in shock. He was mumbling

words, but not coherently.”

Not coherently? Really? Then how did he manage to notify two di�erent people that he knew who was

responsible for the bombings, resulting in the FBI pacing the hospital �oor like an expectant father while

Je� was in surgery? Not only is everyone involved in this incident lying, they can’t even manage to all tell

the same lies. And amazingly enough, despite not taking the time to roll up his sleeves before rushing into

action, and despite allegedly performing triage on the two bloodiest and most seriously injured victims

(Bauman and Campbell), Dr. Cleansleeves nevertheless managed to keep his shirt almost completely blood-

free.

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wl7_lBm4d2A


Dr. Cleansleeves also didn’t bother with slipping on the o�cial blue responder gloves. Many of the other

emergency personnel didn’t either. And none of the medical personnel on the scene, without exception,

bothered with surgical masks or eye protection either. And that, dear readers, is another clear giveaway that

this entire incident was staged.

There was supposedly blood on the scene everywhere, �owing from scores of victims. A good number of

those victims allegedly had explosively amputated limbs and were thus necessarily spurting blood

everywhere. And yet none of the trained medical personnel on the job – not the doctors, not the nurses,

not the EMTs – all of whom should have been well-versed on the dangers of blood-borne pathogens,

bothered to don a surgical mask or eye protection. We live in an era when the family dentist will not take a

peek in your mouth without a mask and eye protection and yet we are supposed to believe that all these

unprotected medical professionals fearlessly waded through rivers of blood to perform triage on patients

whose femoral arteries were spraying blood like garden hoses?

And it certainly cannot be argued that supply was a problem. As has been noted in numerous media

reports, the medical tent set up just beyond the �nish line was essentially a 100-bed �eld hospital. Masks

and eye protection should have been just as easy to come by as those ubiquitous blue gloves. And yet after

reviewing more images from that day than I care to remember, I have not seen a single medical responder

wearing a mask or eye protection. Not one.



I had a lot more that I was going to discuss here but the rest will have to wait until the next outing because

something else has come up that takes precedence: someone has boldly o�ered up a ‘debunking’ of my

work on the Boston bombings. And there are few things that provide me as much enjoyment and

entertainment as someone trying to ‘debunk’ my work, so I really need to focus the remainder of this post

on that e�ort.

The ‘debunking’ was penned by someone named Anita Dalton-Clark, but since she makes very clear

throughout her post that she is a big fan of my assignment of nicknames, I’m going to give her one of her

very own: Fucktard.

First of all, it appears that Fucktard put the site up speci�cally to ‘debunk’ Boston bombing conspiracy

theories. If you click on the links at the top, most of them lead nowhere. Other than her pathetic attempt to

‘debunk’ my work, there ain’t much else to be found on the site at all. So I guess I should be rather �attered

that Fucktard put up an entire fake website just to feebly ‘debunk’ me.

I wholeheartedly encourage everyone to drop in and read what Fucktard has to say, most of which is just a

lot of feigning of outrage over my supposedly insensitive treatment of the ‘victims.’ I am, of course, going

to go over some of the highlights, but I would still recommend giving it a read. There is a lot of really

funny stu� in there. Take, for example, Fucktard’s comments on shrapnel: “Shrapnel is not a bullet – it’s not

aerodynamic, and it does not travel in a straight line. You cannot predict a shrapnel arc.”

You can imagine how stupid I feel! Foolishly, I had based my arguments on the universally accepted laws

of physics – such as the one that says that a body in motion will continue in a straight line until acted upon

by an outside force – without realizing that universal laws of physics don’t apply to shrapnel. You learn

something new everyday I guess, and today we have learned that shrapnel is not bound by the physical

laws that govern all other solid matter. It’s a good thing that Fucktard is looking over my shoulder or we

might not have ever known that.

I would hope that anyone with at least two functioning brain cells realizes that when someone has to

literally rewrite the laws of physics to make their point, that person is completely and totally full of shit. But

Fucktard wasn’t satis�ed with simply rewriting every physics textbook ever published, so she followed that

up by rewriting the dictionary as well: “A moment is a minute, not a second.”

It is? Then why not just call it a minute? Dictionary.com says that a moment is “an inde�nitely short period

of time; instant,” which doesn’t really sound like the de�nition of a minute. Again, I have to say here that I

am very �attered, to say the least, because when someone has to rewrite both the dictionary and the laws of

physics in a desperate attempt to ‘debunk’ me, that tells me that my work is pretty solid.

Elsewhere in Fucktard’s rant, she claims that hoody “was initially facing amputation but the doctors

managed to save his legs.” And how does she know that? Because it says so on hoody’s repulsive

fundraising site, so it surely must be true and no independent corroboration is required. She also says that,

“It is clear on his right hand that he is missing the skin on (sic) middle and ring �nger.” That “can be seen,”

she says, “with the naked eye.”

Given Fucktard’s high level of visual acuity, she should have no trouble seeing that in hoody’s staged

hospital pic, he has the index and middle �nger on his right hand wrapped, not the middle and ring �ngers.

Those inept doctors who are treating him apparently wrapped the wrong �ngers! I think we can all agree

that it is just terrible to see such a horribly injured man receive such shoddy medical care.

http://houdinisrevenge.com/boston-bombing-conspiracy-theories-dave-mcgowans-staging-theory-part-1/


Fucktard also complains that I didn’t show readers the photo below, taken from hoody’s fundraising page,

which she seems to think proves that hoody was in fact gravely injured. Of course, we can’t actually draw

any conclusions at all from the image because we have no idea who that leg is attached to, which is why I

didn’t bother to include it. I also didn’t include the second image, which also conveniently leaves out the

owner’s face. Tellingly, those are the only two images of hoody’s allegedly injured legs that can be found

on his page.



One of Fucktard’s most bizarre claims is that, contrary to one of my assertions, Nicole’s sister can be seen in

some of the images. The photo below has been doctored by Fucktard to supposedly highlight that fact. It’s

di�cult to determine whether Fucktard is really as stupid as she is pretending to be here, but it is perfectly

obvious that the woman she has indicated is the strawberry blond gal who remained on the scene

completely immobile throughout the ordeal. And it is just as obvious that the two women, who completely

ignored one another despite being in fairly close proximity, are not sisters.



Or maybe they are estranged sisters. Yeah, that’s probably it. They are estranged sisters who nonetheless

attended the marathon together. Fucktard also claims that the same woman she identi�es as Nicole’s sister

“lost a leg.” In the photo below, it is di�cult to determine which of her legs had to be amputated. Maybe

they just took o� both of them to be on the safe side. Apparently doctors took o� a whole lot of perfectly

good legs that day. Maybe they had a quota to �ll or something.

Moving on, we �nd Fucktard dumping a huge load of horseshit with this passage: “I am unsure how

McGowan would have had medical personnel and bystanders get Je� Bauman, Jr. to help without it being

graphically visible to the cameras. Had he been strapped down on a gurney, the horror of his legs would

still have been visible and still would have been all over our TVs. Moreover, the wheelchair is important

because it shows that Arredondo and others on the scene recognized how terrible Bauman’s wounds were.

Had they waited for a gurney Bauman might have bled out. But understand that there would have been

little way for Bauman’s injuries to have been hidden regardless of how he had been transported to help.”

Where to begin? With the irrefutable fact that Redcoat was hauled out of there on a gurney before Je�’s

famous wheelchair ride, revealing as a brazen lie the claim that there were no gurneys available? By noting

that hoody was hauled out on a gurney with no part of his body visible? By noting that The Other Je� was

taken by wheelchair with his alleged injuries covered? By pointing out that the notion that Je� was rushed



Special Report on the Boston

Marathon Bombings: Part VI »

« Special Report on the Boston

Marathon Bombings: Part IV

away on the �rst available transport device due to the gravity of his alleged injuries is belied by the fact that

he was allowed to bleed out on the ground for several minutes while numerous responders stood idly by?

There are numerous other things that Fucktard got wrong, but she did get one thing right – the images

that I initially started this series with, and that I have long since moved on from, were crops of larger pics

taken from an o�ce window. When initially circulated on the web, they were billed as stills from a

surveillance video and I had no reason to suspect otherwise. And what di�erence does it make? The source

of the images has nothing whatsoever to do with what is depicted in them. And it’s not as if I, you know,

tried to rewrite the laws of physics.

We can only hope that Fucktard keeps her word and posts ‘debunkings’ of the rest of the parts of my series.

At times like these, we can all use a good laugh now and then.
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